

Fixed point stability and decay of correlations

Ettore Vicari, Jean Zinn-Justin

▶ To cite this version:

Ettore Vicari, Jean Zinn-Justin. Fixed point stability and decay of correlations. New Journal of Physics, 2006, 8, pp.321. 10.1088/1367-2630/8/12/321. cea-00162076

HAL Id: cea-00162076 https://cea.hal.science/cea-00162076

Submitted on 12 Jul 2007

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

New Journal of Physics

Fixed point stability and decay of correlations

Ettore Vicari^{1,4} and Jean Zinn-Justin^{2,3}

¹ Dipartimento di Fisica dell, Università di Pisa and INFN, Pisa, Italy

² Dapnia, CEA/Saclay, F-91191 Gif-sur-Yvette cedex, France

³ Institut de Mathématiques de Jussieu-Chevaleret, Université de Paris 7, France E-mail: Ettore.Vicari@df.unipi.it and zinn@dsm-mail.saclay.cea.fr

New Journal of Physics **8** (2006) 321 Received 14 November 2006 Published 14 December 2006 Online at http://www.njp.org/ doi:10.1088/1367-2630/8/12/321

Abstract. In the framework of the renormalization-group (RG) theory of critical phenomena, a quantitative description of many continuous phase transitions can be obtained by considering an effective Φ^4 theories, having an *N*-component fundamental field Φ_i and containing up to fourth-order powers of the field components. Their RG flow is usually characterized by several fixed points (FPs). We give here strong arguments in favour of the following conjecture: the stable FP corresponds to the fastest decay of correlations, that is, is the one with the largest values of the critical exponent η describing the power-law decay of the two-point function at criticality. We prove this conjecture in the framework of the ε -expansion. Then, we discuss its validity beyond the ε -expansion. We present several lower-dimensional cases, mostly three-dimensional, which support the conjecture. We have been unable to find a counterexample.

⁴ Author to whom any correspondence should be addressed.

Contents

1.	Introduction	2			
2.	Proof within the <i>e</i> -expansion				
3.	Several verifications of the η conjecture	6			
	3.1. The $O(M) \otimes O(N) \Phi^4$ model	6			
	3.2. Φ^4 theory with cubic anisotropy	9			
	3.3. Spin-density-wave model	10			
	3.4. $U(N) \otimes U(N)$ -symmetric Φ^4 models	10			
	3.5. $SU(4)$ -symmetric Φ^4 model	11			
4.	Φ^4 theories of multicritical behaviours 1				
5.	The GNY model				
Ap	opendix A. Some proofs within the ε -expansion	14			
References					

1. Introduction

In the framework of the renormalization-group (RG) approach to critical phenomena, a quantitative description of many continuous phase transitions can be obtained by considering effective Landau–Ginzburg–Wilson (LGW) Φ^4 theories, having an *N*-component fundamental field Φ_i and containing up to fourth-order powers of the field components. The fourth-degree polynomial form of the potential depends on the symmetry of the system. LGW Φ^4 theories generally present several fixed points (FPs) which are connected by RG trajectories. See, for example, figure 1, which shows the RG flow in the example of four FPs. Among them, the infrared stable FP determines the asymptotic critical behaviour of the corresponding statistical systems. FPs are determined by the zeros of β functions. The stability of the FP is related to the eigenvalues of its stability matrix: if all eigenvalues have a positive real part, then the FP is stable. An interesting question is whether a physical quantity exists such that the comparison of its values at the FPs identifies the most stable FP. In two dimensions (2D), the central charge is such a quantity: the stable FP in unitary theories is the one with the least value of the central charge is such a quantity: the stable FP in unitary theories have progress, see, for example [2], no conclusive results on the extension of this theorem to higher dimensions have yet been obtained.

In this paper, we give strong arguments in favour of the following conjecture:

In general Φ^4 theories with a single quadratic invariant, the infrared stable FP is the one that corresponds to the fastest decay of correlations.

Therefore, it is the FP with the largest value of the critical exponent η which characterizes the power-law decay of the two-point correlation function $W^{(2)}(x)$ at criticality,

$$W^{(2)}(x) \propto \frac{1}{x^{d-2+\eta}}.$$
 (1)

The exponent η is related to the RG dimension of the field, $d_{\Phi} = (d - 2 + \eta)/2$.

The conjecture holds in the case of the O(N)-symmetric Φ^4 theory. Indeed, below 4D, the Gaussian FP, for which $\eta = 0$, is unstable against the non-trivial Wilson–Fisher FP for which

New Journal of Physics 8 (2006) 321 (http://www.njp.org/)

2



Figure 1. RG flow of the $O(M) \otimes O(N)$ model in the large-*N* limit.

 $\eta \ge 0$. We recall that the positivity of η in unitary theories follows rigorously from the spectral representation of the two-point function [3].

In the absence of a sufficiently large symmetry restricting the form of the Φ^4 potential, many quartic couplings must be introduced—see, for example [3]–[8]. The Hamiltonian of a general Φ^4 theory for a *N*-component field Φ_i can be written as

$$H = \int d^{d}x \left[\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} (\partial_{\mu} \Phi_{i})^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} r_{i} \Phi_{i}^{2} + \frac{1}{4!} \sum_{ijkl} u_{ijkl} \Phi_{i} \Phi_{j} \Phi_{k} \Phi_{l} \right].$$
(2)

The number of independent parameters r_i and u_{ijkl} depends on the symmetry group of the theory. An interesting class of models are those in which $\sum_i \Phi_i^2$ is the unique quadratic polynomial invariant under the symmetry group of the theory. In this case, all r_i are equal, $r_i = r$ and u_{ijkl} must be such not to generate other quadratic invariant terms under RG transformations, for example, it must satisfy the trace condition [7] $\sum_i u_{iikl} \propto \delta_{kl}$. In these models, criticality is driven by tuning the single parameter r, which physically may correspond to the temperature. All field components become critical simultaneously and the two-point function in the disordered phase is diagonal, that is,

$$W_{ij}^{(2)}(x-y) \equiv \langle \Phi_i(x)\Phi_j(y)\rangle = \delta_{ij}W^{(2)}(x-y).$$
(3)

These Φ^4 theories have generally several FPs. Our conjecture applies to such class of unitary models. We do not consider nonunitary limits, such as $N \rightarrow 0$, which are relevant to describe the critical properties of spin systems in the presence of quenched disorder.

Actually, although within the ε -expansion around d = 4 one can prove that only one stable FP exists, in d < 4 general Φ^4 theories may have more than one stable FP with separate attraction domains. The η conjecture should be then refined by comparing FP that are connected by RG trajectories starting from the Gaussian FP: among them the stable FP is the one with the largest value of η .

It was already observed in [4] that, within the ε -expansion, the stable FP of theories with four FPs, is the one with the largest value of η . Here, we extend this ε -expansion result to an arbitrary Φ^4 theory. Then, we discuss the validity of the η conjecture at fixed dimension d < 4, where it remains a conjecture. We present several lower-dimensional cases, mostly 3D, which support the conjecture. We have been unable to find an analytical or numerical counterexample.

Finally, we extend the conjecture to multicritical points in models with several independent correlation lengths (different r_i) that diverge simultaneously. In this situation, the exponent η is replaced by a matrix and the conjecture applies to the trace of the matrix. However, the empirical evidence, beyond the ε -expansion is more limited.

The paper is organized as follows. In section 2, we prove the η conjecture within the ε -expansion for the most general Φ^4 with a single quadratic invariant. In section 3, we discuss several lower dimensional examples, showing that in all cases the stable FP is the one with the largest value of η . In section 4, we discuss the extension of the η conjecture to Φ^4 theories describing multicritical behaviours. In section 5, we discuss the Gross–Neveu–Yukawa (GNY) model and show that also in this case the infrared stable FP is the one with the fastest decay of the critical two-point function of the boson field, within the ε -expansion and in the large- $N_{\rm f}$ limit for any dimension.

2. Proof within the ε -expansion

Expansions in powers of $\varepsilon = 4 - d$ can be most easily obtained within the minimal-subtraction scheme [9], where the RG functions are computed from the divergent part of correlation functions [3],

$$\beta_{ijkl}(g_{abcd}) \equiv \mu \frac{\partial g_{ijkl}}{\partial \mu}, \qquad \eta(g_{abcd}) \equiv \mu \frac{\partial \ln Z_{\Phi}}{\partial \mu}, \tag{4}$$

where g_{iikl} are the renormalized couplings corresponding to the quartic parameters u_{iikl} .

We consider only Hamiltonians that have a symmetry such that the quadratic invariant in the field is unique and the two-point function in the disordered phase thus diagonal. As a consequence of the diagonal property of the two-point correlation function in the disordered phase, the tensor u_{ijkl} has special properties that take the form of successive constraints in the perturbative expansion. At leading order one finds [7]

$$\beta_{ijkl}(g_{abcd}) = -\varepsilon g_{ijkl} + \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \sum_{m,n} (g_{ijmn}g_{mnkl} + g_{ikmn}g_{mnjl} + g_{ilmn}g_{mnkj}).$$
(5)

The RG function associated with the field dimension can be inferred from the function

$$\eta(g_{ijkl}) = \frac{1}{6N(4\pi)^4} \sum_{i,j,k,l} g_{ijkl} g_{ijkl},$$
(6)

this form resulting from the diagonality condition

$$N\sum_{k,l,m}g_{iklm}g_{jklm} = \delta_{ij}\sum_{k,l,m,n}g_{klmn}g_{klmn}.$$
(7)

One can easily verify that the general expression of the one-loop β -function derives from a potential [10]. Indeed,

$$\beta_{ijkl}(g_{abcd}) = \frac{\partial U(g_{abcd})}{\partial g_{ijkl}},\tag{8}$$

$$U(g_{abcd}) = -\frac{\varepsilon}{2} \sum_{i,j,k,l} g_{ijkl} g_{ijkl} + \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \sum_{i,j,k,l,m,n} g_{ijkl} g_{klmn} g_{mnij},$$

Such a property, which has been verified to two-loop order, is shared, at leading order, by other field theories and would deserve a more systematic investigation.

A detailed discussion of the properties of the RG flow within the ε -expansion can be found in [11]. Here, we list a number of consequences of Equation (8) within the ε -expansion. Note that none of these properties depends on the condition (3).

(i) The potential decreases along a RG trajectory and thus FPs are extrema of the potential. In particular, if two FPs are (asymptotically) connected by a RG trajectory, the stable FP corresponds to the lowest value of the potential.

(ii) The eigenvalues of the matrix of first order partial derivatives of the β functions (stability matrix) at a FP are real.

(iii) Stable FPs are local minima of the potential, that is, the matrix of second derivatives of U(g) is positive.

Moreover, two additional properties depend of the special cubic form of the one-loop potential (8) (we give the proof in the appendix):

(iv) There exists at most one stable FP.

(v) The stable FP corresponds to the lowest value of the potential U(g).

The latter properties are not necessarily valid beyond the ε -expansion. For example, in the physical dimensions d = 3, 2 LGW Φ^4 theories may have more than one stable FPs with separate attraction domains. This possibility does not occur within the ε -expansion, that is, close to 4D, but it does not contradict general RG arguments and it is found in some cases, in particular when different regions of the Hamiltonian quartic parameters are related to different symmetry breaking patterns. In the next section, we shall mention a few examples where this occurs.

In the framework of the ε -expansion, we now show that the stable FP (or at least the most stable one) corresponds to the largest value of the exponent η and thus to the case where correlation function has the fastest decay at large distance. For any FP g_{ijkl}^* , the equations

$$\beta_{ijkl}(g^*_{abcd}) = \frac{\partial U(g^*_{abcd})}{\partial g_{ijkl}} = 0, \tag{9}$$

implies

$$\varepsilon \sum_{i,j,k,l} g_{ijkl}^* g_{ijkl}^* = \frac{3}{(4\pi)^2} \sum_{i,j,k,l,m,n} g_{ijkl}^* g_{klmn}^* g_{mnij}^*,$$
(10)

and, thus, at leading order,

$$U(g_{abcd}^{*}) = -\frac{1}{6} \varepsilon \sum_{i,j,k,l} g_{ijkl}^{*} g_{ijkl}^{*},$$
(11)

which is negative, thus lower than the Gaussian FP value. At leading order, the exponent η is then given by

$$\eta = \frac{1}{6N} \frac{1}{(4\pi)^4} \sum_{i,i,k,l} g^*_{ijkl} g^*_{ijkl} = -\frac{1}{N\varepsilon} \frac{1}{(4\pi)^4} U(g^*_{abcd}).$$
(12)

As we have shown, the stable FP corresponds to the lowest value of U. It thus corresponds also to the largest value of the exponent η : therefore, the correlation functions corresponding to the stable FP have the fastest large distance decay.

The validity of this result beyond the ε -expansion remains a conjecture. In next section, we discuss several checks in lower dimensions, mostly in 3D.

3. Several verifications of the η conjecture

In this section, we discuss the RG flow, in d < 4D, of several Φ^4 theories with a single quadratic invariant, but more than one quartic term. As we shall see, in all examples considered below, the stable FP of the RG flow, within regions connected by RG trajectories starting from the Gaussian FP, is the one corresponding to the largest value of η .

3.1. The $O(M) \otimes O(N) \Phi^4$ model

We first consider the $O(M) \otimes O(N) \Phi^4$ model corresponding to the hamiltonian density

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a,i} \left[(\partial_{\mu} \Phi_{ai})^2 + r \Phi_{ai}^2 \right] + \frac{1}{4!} u_0 \left(\sum_{a,i} \Phi_{ai}^2 \right)^2 + \frac{1}{4!} v_0 \sum_{a,i,b,j} \left[\Phi_{ai} \Phi_{bi} \Phi_{aj} \Phi_{bj} - \Phi_{ai}^2 \Phi_{bj}^2 \right], \quad (13)$$

where Φ_{ai} is a $M \times N$ real matrix (a = 1, ..., M and i = 1, ..., N). The symmetry of this model is $O(M) \otimes O(N)$.

3.1.1. The large-N limit. The $O(M) \otimes O(N) \Phi^4$ model can be solved in the large-N limit for any fixed M [12, 13]. For any $M \ge 2$, one finds four FPs: the Gaussian FP, the Heisenberg $O(M \times N)$ FP and two new FPs which we call chiral (C) and antichiral (A). Figure 1 shows a sketch of the RG flow in the quartic-coupling space. In the large-N limit, for any $M \ge 2$ and for any 2 < d < 4, the stable FP is the chiral one and all other FPs are unstable. The large-N critical exponent η has been calculated for all FPs

$$\eta = \frac{\eta_1 e_d}{N} + O(1/N^2), \tag{14}$$

where

$$e_d = -\frac{4\Gamma(d-2)}{\Gamma(2-d/2)\Gamma(d/2-1)\Gamma(d/2-2)\Gamma(d/2+1)},$$
(15)

and

$$\eta_{1} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{Gaussian} \\ 1/M & \text{Heisenberg} \\ (M+1)/2 & \text{chiral} \\ (M-1)(M+2)/(2M) & \text{antichiral} \end{cases}$$
(16)

 $O(1/N^2)$ calculations can be found in [13]. One easily verifies that for any M and 2 < d < 4 the value of η at the stable chiral FP is the largest one.

3.1.2. d = 3 results from high-order FT perturbative analyses. Several results have also been obtained concerning the RG flow of the 3D $O(M) \otimes O(N) \Phi^4$ models at finite values of M, N. Below we restrict ourselves to the case M = 2, that is, to $O(2) \otimes O(N)$ models. The cases N = 2, 3 are physically interesting because they could describe transitions in non-collinear frustrated magnets, the superfluid transition in ³He, *etc*.... See, for example [6, 14] and references therein. We have to distinguish the cases $v_0 > 0$ and $v_0 < 0$, because they lead to different symmetry breaking patterns:

$$O(2) \otimes O(N) \to O(2) \otimes O(N-2) \quad \text{for } v_0 > 0, \tag{17}$$

$$O(2) \otimes O(N) \to Z_2 \otimes O(N-1) \quad \text{for } v_0 < 0. \tag{18}$$

The *u*-axis plays the role of a separatrix and thus the RG flow corresponding to $v_0 > 0$ cannot cross the *u*-axis. The relevant FPs of models with the symmetry-breaking pattern (17) lie in the region v > 0, where v is the renormalized quartic coupling associated with v_0 , while the relevant FPs of models with the symmetry-breaking pattern (18) lie in the region $v \leq 0$.

All $O(2) \otimes O(N)$ models contain the Gaussian FP and the Heisenberg O(2N) FP. They are both unstable. The relevant perturbation at the O(2N) FP, which makes it unstable for any $N \ge 2$, is related to the *v*-term in the Hamiltonian, which is a particular combination of quartic operators transforming as the spin-0 and spin-4 representations of the O(2N) group. Any spin-4 quartic perturbation is relevant at the O(K) FP for $K \ge 3$, since its RG dimension $y_{4,4}$ is positive for $K \ge 3$ [15]. Therefore the O(2N) FP is always unstable in the RG flow of the $O(2) \otimes O(N)$ models (actually this result extends to any $O(M) \otimes O(N)$ model with $M \ge 2$). In particular, $y_{4,4} \approx 0.11$ at the O(4) FP and $y_{4,4} \approx 0.27$ at the O(6) FP.

The RG flow of 3D $O(2) \otimes O(N)$ models has been investigated by computing and analysing high-order perturbative series within the massive zero-momentum (MZM) and massless $\overline{\text{MS}}$ schemes, respectively to six and five loops [16]–[19]. Some results are reported below.

RG flow for N = 2 *and* v < 0. One finds a stable FP in the region v < 0, which is in the XY universality class [6, 14]. We recall that the other relevant FPs are the Gaussian FP and the O(4) FP. The best available estimates of η for O(N) models are reported in table 1. They support the η conjecture, which would require $\eta_{XY} > \eta_{O(4)}$. Indeed the best available estimate are $\eta_{XY} = 0.0381(2)$ and $\eta_{O(4)} = 0.0365(10)$.

Table 1. Best theoretical estimates of the critical exponents for 3D O(N) models. Concerning the methods, IHT indicates high-temperature expansion of improved lattice models with suppressed leading scaling corrections; MC indicates Monte Carlo simulations; FT indicates field-theoretical methods based on perturbative expansions; MC+IHT exploits a synergy of IHT and MC. Other results can be found in [3, 6].

Ν	ν	η	Method	References
1	0.63012(16)	0.0364(2)	IHT	[20]
	0.63020(12)	0.0368(2)	MC	[21]
	0.6304(13)	0.034(3)	FT	[22, 23]
2	0.6717(1)	0.0381(2)	MC+IHT	[24]
	0.6703(15)	0.035(3)	FT	[22, 23]
3	0.7112(5)	0.0375(5)	MC+IHT	[25]
	0.7073(35)	0.0355(25)	FT	[22, 23]
4	0.749(2)	0.0365(10)	MC	[26]
	0.741(6)	0.0350(45)	FT	[22]
5	0.779(3)	0.034(1)	MC	[27]
	0.764(4)	0.031(3)	FT	[28]
6	0.789(5)	0.029(3)	FT	[28]
8	0.830	0.027	FT	[29]
Large N	$1 - 32/(3\pi^2 N)$	$8/(3\pi^2 N)$	$1/N \exp$	[30]

RG flow for N = 2 *and* v > 0. The analysis of the high-order MZM and $\overline{\text{MS}}$ expansions provide a rather robust evidence of the existence of another stable chiral FP for v > 0[16, 17, 19]. This has been confirmed by MC simulations of a lattice Φ^4 model [19]. This FP is not connected with the one found in the v < 0 region, because the line v = 0 is a separatrix. The estimates of η at this stable FP are: $\eta_{ch} = 0.09(1)$ from MZM and $\eta_{ch} = 0.09(4)$ from $\overline{\text{MS}}$. These results must be compared with the values of η at the other FPs connected by RG trajectories in the region v > 0, which are the Gaussian and the O(4) FPs. Again the conjecture is verified because $\eta_{ch} > \eta_{O(4)} > 0$.

RG flow for N = 3 *and* v < 0. There is a stable FP with attraction domain in the region v < 0 [18]. The corresponding estimates of η are: $\eta = 0.079(7)$ from MZM and $\eta = 0.086(24)$ from $\overline{\text{MS}}$. The other FPs are the Gaussian FP and O(6) FP, which have much smaller values of η , in particular $\eta_{O(6)} = 0.029(3)$ [28].

RG flow for N = 3 and v > 0. There is a stable FP also in the region v > 0 [19]. The corresponding estimates of η are: $\eta = 0.10(1)$ from MZM and $\eta = 0.08(3)$ from $\overline{\text{MS}}$. This values are again much larger than the values of η of the unstable Gaussian and O(6) FPs.

Note that the stable 3D FPs of $O(2) \otimes O(N)$ models with N = 2, 3 do not exist close to 4D, apart from the one for N = 2 and v < 0, see, for example [14]. Thus, they provide a rather non-trivial check of the η conjecture, because the 3D RG flow differs qualitatively from the RG flow close to d = 4, which is obtained from the ε -expansion.



Figure 2. RG flow of the cubic model. $N_c \leq 3$ in d = 3, see, for example [31].

3.2. Φ^4 theory with cubic anisotropy

This theory is relevant for magnets with cubic anisotropy. Its Hamiltonian density is

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} \left[(\partial_{\mu} \Phi_{i})^{2} + r \Phi_{i}^{2} \right] + \frac{1}{4!} u_{0} \left(\sum_{i} \Phi_{i}^{2} \right)^{2} + \frac{1}{4!} v_{0} \sum_{i} \Phi_{i}^{4}, \tag{19}$$

where Φ_i is a N-component field. The RG flow of this Hamiltonian has four FPs: the trivial Gaussian one, the Ising one in which the N components of the field decouple, the O(N)-symmetric and the cubic FPs. The Gaussian FP is always unstable and so is the Ising FP for any number of components N. Indeed, at the Ising FP one may interpret the cubic Hamiltonian as the Hamiltonian of N Ising systems coupled by the O(N)-symmetric interaction. The coupling term $\int d^d x \Phi_i^2 \Phi_i^2$ with $i \neq j$ scales as the integral of the product of two operators Φ_i^2 . Since the Φ_i^2 operator has RG dimension $1/v_1$ —indeed, it is associated with the temperature—the combined operator has RG dimension $2/v_{\rm I} - d = \alpha_{\rm I}/v_{\rm I}$ and therefore the associated crossover exponent is given by $\phi = \alpha_{\rm I}$, independently of N [5]. Since $\alpha_{\rm I} > 0$, the Ising FP is unstable independently of N. On the other hand, the stability properties of the O(N)-symmetric and of the cubic FPs depend on N. For sufficiently small values of N, $N < N_c$, the O(N)-symmetric FP is stable and the cubic one is unstable. For $N > N_c$, the opposite is true: the RG flow is driven toward the cubic FP, which now describes the generic critical behaviour of the system. Figure 2 sketches the flow diagram in the two cases $N < N_c$ and $N > N_c$. In $d = 3 N_c \approx 2.9$, see for example, [6, 31] and references therein. Therefore, the O(N) FP is stable only for N = 2. Let us now examine the various cases in more detail.

The case N = 2. We have four FPs: the Gaussian FP, the Ising FP along the u = 0 axis, the cubic FP for v < 0 which turns out to be equivalent to an Ising FP and the O(2) FP which is the stable one. Again the η conjecture does not fail: it requires $\eta_{XY} > \eta_{Ising}$ and this is verified by the best 3D estimates reported in table 1, i.e. $\eta_{XY} = 0.0381(2)$ and $\eta_{Ising} = 0.0364(2)$.

It is also worth mentioning the 2D RG flow of this theory, where there is a line of stable FPs connecting the Ising and XY FPs [32, 33], with central charge c = 1 (in this case the central

charge associated with the Ising FP is c = 1 because it represents two decoupled Ising models). Along this line the critical exponent η does not vary, $\eta = 1/4$, but the correlation-length critical exponent goes from $\nu = 1$ to $\nu = \infty$.

The case N = 3. We have four FPs: the Gaussian FP, the Ising FP along the u = 0 axis, the O(3) FP and the cubic FP for v > 0 which is the stable one. The stable cubic FP turns out to be very close to the O(3) one and the critical exponents are not distinguishable with the best O(3) estimates. Indeed, FT estimates of their differences give [34] $v_c - v_{O(3)} = -0.0003(3)$ and $\eta_c - \eta_{O(3)} = -0.0001(1)$. The η conjecture would require $\eta_c - \eta_{O(3)} > 0$; the above FT estimate of the difference $\eta_c - \eta_{O(3)}$, although favouring a negative sign, is not sufficiently precise to conclude that the η conjecture fails. In conclusion, also in this case the η conjecture is substantially consistent with the available results: for $N = 3 \eta_{\text{cubic}} \approx \eta_{O(3)} > \eta_{\text{Ising}} > 0$.

The case N > 3. For N > 3 the analysis of the six-loop series reported in [31] is consistent with the conjecture. One finds $\eta_{\text{cubic}} \approx \eta_{\text{Ising}}$, but the precision is not sufficient to determine which one is larger.

The case $N \to \infty$. For $N \to \infty$, keeping Nu and v fixed, one can derive exact expressions for the exponents at the cubic FP. Indeed, for $N \to \infty$ the system can be reinterpreted as a constrained Ising model, leading to a Fisher renormalization [35] of the Ising critical exponents. One has

$$\eta = \eta_{\rm I} + O(1/N), \qquad \nu = \frac{\nu_{\rm I}}{1 - \alpha_{\rm I}} + O(1/N),$$
(20)

where η_I , ν_I and α_I are the critical exponents of the Ising model. Again the η conjecture does not fail.

3.3. Spin-density-wave model

The spin-density-wave model is a rather complicate Φ^4 model with five quartic parameters, which could describe the SDW-SC-to-SC phase transition in high- T_c superconductors (cuprates) [36]. Its Hamiltonian density is

$$\mathcal{H} = |\partial_{\mu}\Phi_{1}|^{2} + |\partial_{\mu}\Phi_{2}|^{2} + r(|\Phi_{1}|^{2} + |\Phi_{2}|^{2}) + \frac{u_{1,0}}{2}(|\Phi_{1}|^{4} + |\Phi_{2}|^{4}) + \frac{u_{2,0}}{2}(|\Phi_{1}^{2}|^{2} + |\Phi_{2}^{2}|^{2}) + w_{1,0}|\Phi_{1}|^{2}|\Phi_{2}|^{2} + w_{2,0}|\Phi_{1} \cdot \Phi_{2}|^{2} + w_{3,0}|\Phi_{1}^{*} \cdot \Phi_{2}|^{2}$$
(21)

where Φ_a are complex *N*-component vectors. The RG flow of this model has been investigated in [36]. The physical interesting cases are those for N = 2, 3. The analysis reported in [36] suggests the existence of a stable FP in both cases, with rather large values of η : $\eta = 0.12(1)$ and $\eta = 0.18(3)$ respectively (from MZM). There are also several unstable FPs in the RG flow, but all of them have smaller values of η . Therefore, the available d = 3 results of this spin-density-wave model support the η conjecture.

3.4. $U(N) \otimes U(N)$ -symmetric Φ^4 models

Let us now consider the Hamiltonian density

$$\mathcal{H} = \operatorname{tr}(\partial_{\mu}\Phi^{\dagger})(\partial_{\mu}\Phi) + r\operatorname{tr}\Phi^{\dagger}\Phi + \frac{u_{0}}{4}(\operatorname{tr}\Phi^{\dagger}\Phi)^{2} + \frac{v_{0}}{4}\operatorname{tr}(\Phi^{\dagger}\Phi)^{2}$$
(22)

where Φ_{ij} is a $N \times N$ complex matrix. The symmetry is $U(N)_L \otimes U(N)_R$. In the case Φ_{ij} is also symmetric, the symmetry is U(N). This model has been introduced and studied [37, 38] because it is relevant for the finite-temperature transition in QCD, that is, the theory of the strong interactions. Indeed, for $v_0 > 0$ the ground state leads to the symmetry-breaking pattern $U(N)_L \otimes U(N)_R \rightarrow U(N)_V$ (corresponding to QCD if the $U(1)_A$ anomaly is neglected).

For N = 1, the model reduces to the O(2)-symmetric Φ^4 theory. For $N \ge 3$ no stable FP is found [38].

We focus on the case N = 2. One can easily identify two FPs. One is the Gaussian FP for u = v = 0, which is always unstable. Since for $v_0 = 0$ the Hamiltonian becomes equivalent to the one of the O(8)-symmetric model, the corresponding O(8) FP must exist on the v = 0axis for u > 0. The O(8) FP is also unstable because the *v*-term in the Hamiltonian represents a spin-4 perturbation with respect to the O(8) FP and such perturbations are relevant for any O(K)models with $K \ge 3$ [15]. Within one-loop ε -expansion calculations, no other FP is found [37]. By contrast, 3D analysis of both MZM and $\overline{\text{MS}}$ expansions show the presence of a stable FP in 3D [38]. The corresponding value of η is $\eta \approx 0.1$, significantly larger than $\eta_{O(8)} \le 0.03$. Therefore, it supports the η conjecture.

3.5. SU(4)-symmetric Φ^4 model

Let us now consider the Hamiltonian density

$$\mathcal{H} = \operatorname{tr}(\partial_{\mu}\Phi^{\dagger})(\partial_{\mu}\Phi) + r\operatorname{tr}\Phi^{\dagger}\Phi + \frac{u_{0}}{4}(\operatorname{tr}\Phi^{\dagger}\Phi)^{2} + \frac{v_{0}}{4}\operatorname{tr}(\Phi^{\dagger}\Phi)^{2} + w_{0}(\det\Phi^{\dagger} + \det\Phi),$$
(23)

where Φ is a complex and symmetric 4×4 matrix field. The symmetry of this model is SU(4). For $v_0 > -\frac{3}{2}|w_0|$, the theory describes the symmetry-breaking pattern $SU(4) \rightarrow SO(4)$ [38], which is the appropriate symmetry-breaking pattern to describe transitions in a QCD-like theory with quarks in the adjoint representation.

Close to 4D there are only two FPs, the Gaussian and the O(20) FPs, which are both unstable. They remain unstable even at lower dimensions and thus are of no relevance for the critical behaviour. The 3D RG flow has been investigated by field-theoretical methods based on perturbative approaches, within the MZM and $\overline{\text{MS}}$ schemes [38]. They show the presence of a stable 3D FP characterized by the symmetry-breaking pattern SU(4) \rightarrow SO(4). The corresponding value of η is rather larger: $\eta \approx 0.2$, much larger than the values of η of the Gaussian and O(20) FPs which is $\eta_{O(20)} \approx 0.013$.

4. Φ^4 theories of multicritical behaviours

In this section, we discuss the extension of the η conjecture to Φ^4 theories describing multicritical behaviours, characterized by more than one independent correlation lengths. In this situation, the ε -expansion indicates that the stable FP should be the one with the largest value of the trace of the η matrix.

We discuss this point within the Φ^4 theory

$$\mathcal{H} = (\partial_{\mu}\vec{\phi}_{1})^{2} + (\partial_{\mu}\vec{\phi}_{2})^{2} + r_{1}\vec{\phi}_{1}^{2} + r_{2}\vec{\phi}_{2}^{2} + u_{1}(\vec{\phi}_{1}^{2})^{2} + u_{2}(\vec{\phi}_{2}^{2})^{2} + w\vec{\phi}_{1}^{2}\vec{\phi}_{2}^{2}$$
(24)

where $\phi_{1,2}$ are two $O(n_1)$ and $O(n_2)$ order parameters, with n_1 and N_2 real components respectively. The symmetry is $O(n_1) \oplus O(n_2)$. This Φ^4 theory describes the multicritical

behaviour arising from the competition of orderings with symmetries $O(n_1)$ and $O(n_2)$, at the point where the corresponding transition lines meet in the phase diagram [39]. Such multicritical points arise in several physical contexts, for instance in anisotropic antiferromagnets, in high- T_c superconductors, etc... See, for example [15] and references therein.

The multicritical behaviour is determined by the RG flow in the quartic-coupling space when $r_{1,2}$ are tuned to their critical values. Four FPs are found: the Gaussian FP, the isotropic $O(n_1 + n_2)$ FP (describing an effective enlargement of the symmetry), a decoupled $O(n_1)$ - $O(n_2)$ FP (which describes effectively decoupled order parameters) and a biconal FP. The main properties of the 3D RG flow are the following.

(i) For $n_1 + n_2 \ge 4$ the decoupled FP is stable. This can be inferred from non-perturbative arguments [40] that show that the RG dimension y_w of the perturbation $P_w = \phi_1^2 \phi_2^2$ that couples the two order parameters is

$$y_w = \frac{1}{\nu_1} + \frac{1}{\nu_2} - 3,$$
(25)

where v_1 , v_2 are the correlation-length exponents of the O(n_1) and O(n_2) models. Inserting the numbers reported in table 1 one finds $y_w < 0$ for $n_1 + n_2 \ge 4$ and any $n_1, n_2 \ge 1$.

(ii) Field-theoretical methods based on perturbative expansions (six-loop in the MZM and $O(\varepsilon^5)$ in the ε -expansion) show that the isotropic $O(n_1 + n_2)$ FP is unstable for $n_1 + n_2 \ge 3$ [15]. Therefore, only in the case of two Ising order parameters can the symmetry be effectively enlarged from $Z_2 \oplus Z_2$ to O(2), at the multicritical point where the Ising lines meet.

(iii) For $n_1 = 1$ (Ising), $n_2 = 2$ (XY), $O(\varepsilon^5)$ calculations show that the stable FP is the biconal FP [15]. Its critical exponents turn out to be very close to the O(3) ones, in fact they are not distinguishable within the errors of the best estimates of the O(3) critical exponents, see table 1.

If we compare the isotropic and the decoupled FPs, the conjecture on the trace of the η matrix should give

$$n_1\eta_{O(n_1)} + n_2\eta_{O(n_2)} > (n_1 + n_2)\eta_{O(n_1 + n_2)},\tag{26}$$

for $n_1 + n_2 \ge 4$ and

$$\eta_{\rm XY} > \eta_{\rm Ising} \tag{27}$$

Moreover, from the point (iii) above, we should have

$$\operatorname{tr} \eta_{\mathrm{biconal}} > \eta_{\mathrm{Ising}} + 2\eta_{\mathrm{XY}} \tag{28}$$

All these relations are verified by, or when the precision is not sufficient are consistent with, the best estimates of the exponent η for the O(N) models, see table 1.

5. The GNY model

In this final section, we discuss the GNY model [41] and show that the infrared stable FP of its RG flow is the one characterized by the fastest decay of the critical two-point function of the boson field.

The Lagrangian of the GNY model is

$$\mathcal{L} = -\sum_{i} \bar{\psi}_{i} (\gamma_{\mu} \partial_{\mu} + g_{0} \sigma) \psi_{i} + \frac{1}{2} [(\partial_{\mu} \sigma)^{2} + m^{2} \sigma^{2}] + \frac{1}{4!} u_{0} \sigma^{4},$$
(29)

where ψ_i are N_f fermionic fields and σ is a real scalar field. The relation between the GNY and the standard Gross–Neveu model is discussed in [41]. Its RG flow can be investigated within the ε -expansion. The RG functions at one-loop order are [41]

$$\beta_u = -\varepsilon u + \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \left(\frac{3}{2} u^2 + N u g^2 - 6 N g^4 \right), \tag{30}$$

$$\beta_{g^2} = -\varepsilon g^2 + \frac{N+6}{16\pi^2}g^4,$$

where $N = N_{\rm f} {\rm tr} I$ (the trace is in the γ -matrix space) is the total number of fermion components. In 4D tr I = 4 and thus $N = 4N_f$ in equation (30). u and g are the MS renormalized couplings associated with u_0 and g_0 , respectively. Note that at one-loop the RG β function for a completely general Yukawa coupling [42] derives also for a potential (see also [3]).

The β functions of the GNY model have three FPs. Beside the unstable Gaussian FP, there is an Ising FP at

$$u_* = \frac{16\pi^2}{3}\varepsilon, \qquad g_*^2 = 0,$$
(31)

which is also unstable. The infrared stable FP of the theory is the Gross-Neveu FP at

$$u_* = \frac{384N\pi^2}{(N+6)[(N-6) + (N^2 + 132N + 36)^{1/2}]}\varepsilon, \qquad g_*^2 = \frac{16\pi^2}{N+6}\varepsilon.$$
 (32)

We can now compare the corresponding RG dimensions of the scalar field and check if the infrared stable FP is the one with the largest value of η_{σ} . Calculations of the scalar field RG functions show that the critical exponent η_{σ} is maximum at the GN FP

$$\eta_{\sigma} = \frac{N}{N+6}\varepsilon, \qquad (33)$$

while $\eta_{\sigma} = O(\varepsilon^2)$ at the Ising FP.

The GNY model is soluble in the large- N_f limit for any d [41], for a review see [30]. In this limit one finds

$$\eta_{\sigma} = 4 - d + O(1/N_f), \tag{34}$$

and therefore $\eta_{\sigma} = 1 + O(1/N_f)$ in 3D. The values of η_{σ} at the Ising FP are definitely smaller, for example $\eta_{\sigma} \approx 0.036$ in 3D, see table 1, and $\eta_{\sigma} = 1/4$ in 2D.

In conclusions, the above analytical results suggest that in the GNY model the infrared stable FP is the one that corresponds to the fastest decay of correlations of the scalar field, as in the Φ^4 theories.

Appendix A. Some proofs within the ε -expansion

In the framework of the ε -expansion, we prove two consequences of the property of gradient flow discussed in section 2: (i) there exists at most one stable FP; (ii) the stable FP corresponds to the lowest value of the potential. Indeed, let us assume the existence of two FPs corresponding to the parameters g^* and g'^* . We then consider the parameters g of the form

$$g(s) = sg^* + (1 - s)g'^*, \quad 0 \le s \le 1,$$
 (A.1)

and the corresponding potential u(s) = U(g(s)). As the explicit form (8) shows, at leading order u(s) is a third degree polynomial in *s*. The derivative

$$u'(s) = \sum_{a} g'_{a}(s) \frac{\partial U}{\partial g_{a}} = \sum_{a} (g^{*}_{a} - g'^{*}_{a}) \frac{\partial U}{\partial g_{a}} = \sum_{a} (g^{*}_{a} - g'^{*}_{a}) \beta_{a}(g(s))$$
(A.2)

vanishes due to the fixed point conditions at s = 0 and s = 1: u'(0) = u'(1) = 0. Since u'(s) is a second degree polynomial, it then has necessarily the form

$$u'(s) = As(1-s).$$
 (A.3)

The second derivative u''(s) is given in terms of the matrix of second partial derivatives of U and, thus, the partial derivatives of the β -functions, by

$$u''(s) = \sum_{a,b} (g_a^* - g_a'^*) \frac{\partial^2 U(g(s))}{\partial g_a \partial g_b} (g_b^* - g_b'^*) = A(1 - 2s)$$
(A.4)

In particular, for s = 0 and s = 1

$$A = \sum_{a,b} (g_a^* - g_a'^*) \frac{\partial^2 U(g'^*)}{\partial g_a \partial g_b} (g_b^* - g_b'^*), \tag{A.5}$$

$$-A = \sum_{a,b} (g_a^* - g_a'^*) \frac{\partial^2 U(g^*)}{\partial g_a \partial g_b} (g_b^* - g_b'^*).$$
(A.6)

At a stable FP, the matrix \mathbf{U}'' of partial second derivatives of U is positive. Thus, if g^* and g'^* are stable FPs, A and -A are both given by the expectation value of a positive matrix and thus are both positive, which is contradictory: the two FPs cannot both be stable.

More generally, the sign of A characterizes, in some sense, the relative stability of these two FPs. Let us assume, for example, A < 0 which is consistent with the assumption that g^* is stable. Then u'(s) < 0 in [0, 1] and U(g(s)) is a decreasing function. Thus,

$$U(g^*) < U(g'^*).$$
 (A.7)

In particular, if g^* is a stable FP, it corresponds, among all FPs, to the lowest value of the potential.

References

- Zamolodchikov A B 1986 Pis. Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 43 565
 Zamolodchikov A B 1986 JETP Lett. 43 730
- [2] Cardy J 1989 *Phys. Lett.* B 215 749
 Forte S and Latorre J I 1998 *Nucl. Phys.* B 535 709 (*Preprint* hep-th/9805015)
 Anselmi D 1999 *Ann. Phys.* 276 361 (*Preprint* hep-th/9903059)
 Cappelli A and D'Appollonio G 2000 *Phys. Lett.* B 487 87 (*Preprint* hep-th/0005115)
 Cappelli A, Guida R and Magnoli N 2001 *Nucl. Phys.* B 618 371 (*Preprint* hep-th/0103237)
- [3] Zinn-Justin J 2002 Quantum Field Theory and Critical Phenomena 4th edn (Oxford: Clarendon)
- [4] Brézin E, Le Guillou J C and Zinn-Justin J 1976 Phase Transitions and Critical Phenomena vol 6, ed C Domb and M S Green (New York: Academic) p 125
- [5] Aharony A 1976 Phase Transitions and Critical Phenomena vol 6, ed C Domb and M S Green (New York: Academic) p 357
- [6] Pelissetto A and Vicari E 2002 Phys. Rept. 368 549 (Preprint cond-mat/0012164)
- [7] Brézin E, Le Guillou J C and Zinn-Justin J 1974 Phys. Rev. B 10 893
- [8] Brézin E, Le Guillou J C and Zinn-Justin J 1973 *Phys. Rev.* D 8 2418 Mukamel D 1975 *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 34 481 Bak P and Mukamel D 1976 *Phys. Rev.* B 13 5086 Grinstein G and Mukamel D 1982 *J. Phys.* A 15 233 Schneck J, Toledano J C, Joffrin C, Aubree J, Joukoff B and Gabelotaud A 1982 *Phys. Rev.* B 25 1766 Toledano J C, Michel L, Toledano P, Brézin E 1985 *Phys. Rev.* B 31 7171 Antonenko S A and Sokolov A I 1994 *Phys. Rev.* B 49 15901 (*Preprint* cond-mat/9809306)
- [9] 't Hooft G and Veltman M J G 1972 Nucl. Phys. B 44 189
- [10] This property has been derived up to two loops in Wallace D J and Zia R P K 1974 Phys. Lett. A 48 325
- [11] Zinn-Justin J *Transition de phase et groupe de renomalisation* CNRS edition et EDP Sciences (Les Ulis 2005) Zinn-Justin J 2005 (Oxford: Oxford University Press) Engl. Transl. at press
- [12] Kawamura H 1991 J. Phys. Soc. Japan 60 1839
- [13] Pelissetto A, Rossi P and Vicari E 2001 Nucl. Phys. B 607 605 (Preprint hep-th/0104024)
- [14] Kawamura H 1998 J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 10 4707 (Preprint cond-mat/9805134)
- [15] Calabrese P, Pelissetto A and Vicari E 2003 Phys. Rev. B 67 054505 (Preprint cond-mat/0209580)
- [16] Pelissetto A, Rossi P and Vicari E 2001 Phys. Rev. B 63 140414(R) (Preprint cond-mat/0007389)
- [17] Calabrese P, Parruccini P and Sokolov A I 2002 *Phys. Rev.* B 66 180403 (*Preprint* cond-mat/0205046)
 Calabrese P, Parruccini P and Sokolov A I 2003 *Phys. Rev.* B 68 094415 (*Preprint* cond-mat/0304154)
- [18] De Prato M, Pelissetto A and Vicari E 2004 Phys. Rev. B 70 214519 (Preprint cond-mat/0312362)
- [19] Calabrese P, Parruccini P, Pelissetto A and Vicari E 2004 Phys. Rev. B 70 174439 (Preprint cond-mat/0405667)
- [20] Campostrini M, Pelissetto A, Rossi P and Vicari E 2002 Phys. Rev. E 65 066127 (Preprint cond-mat/0201180) Campostrini M, Pelissetto A, Rossi P and Vicari E 1999 Phys. Rev. E 60 3526 (Preprint cond-mat/9905078)
- [21] Deng Y and Blöte H W J 2003 Phys. Rev. E 68 036125
- [22] Guida R and Zinn-Justin J 1998 J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 31 8103 (Preprint cond-mat/9803240)
- [23] Le Guillou J C and Zinn-Justin J 1977 *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 39 95
 Le Guillou J C and Zinn-Justin J 1980 *Phys. Rev.* B 21 3976
- [24] Campostrini M, Hasenbusch M, Pelissetto A and Vicari E 2006 Phys. Rev. B 74 144506 (Preprint cond-mat/0605083)
- [25] Campostrini M, Hasenbusch M, Pelissetto A, Rossi P and Vicari E 2002 Phys. Rev. B 65 144520 (Preprint cond-mat/0110336)
- [26] Hasenbusch M 2001 J. Phys. A 34 8221 (Preprint cond-mat/0010463)
- [27] Hasenbusch M, Pelissetto A and Vicari E 2005 Phys. Rev. B 72 014532 (Preprint cond-mat/0502327)
- [28] Butti A and Parisen Toldin F 2005 Nucl. Phys. B 704 527 (Preprint hep-lat/0406023)

- [29] Antonenko S A and Sokolov A I 1995 Phys. Rev. E 51 1894 (Preprint hep-th/9803264)
- [30] Moshe M and Zinn-Justin J 2003 Phys. Rept. 385 69 (Preprint hep-th/0306133)
- [31] Carmona J, Pelissetto A and Vicari E 2000 Phys. Rev. B 61 15136 (Preprint cond-mat/9912115)
- [32] José J V, Kadanoff L P, Kirkpatrick S and Nelson D R 1977 Phys. Rev. B 16 1217 José J V, Kadanoff L P, Kirkpatrick S and Nelson D R 1978 Phys. Rev. B 17 1477(E)
- [33] Calabrese P and Celi A 2002 Phys. Rev. B 66 184410 (Preprint cond-mat/0111118)
- [34] Calabrese P, Pelissetto A and Vicari E 2003 Phys. Rev. B 67 024418 (Preprint cond-mat/0202292)
- [35] Fisher M E 1968 Phys. Rev. 176 257
- [36] De Prato M, Pelissetto A and Vicari E 2006 Phys. Rev. B 74 144507 (Preprint cond-mat/0601404)
- [37] Pisarski R D and Wilczek F 1984 Phys. Rev. D 29 338
- [38] Butti A, Pelissetto A and Vicari E 2003 J. High Energy Phys. JHEP08(2003)029 (Preprint hep-th/0307036)
 Basile F, Pelissetto A and Vicari E 2005 J. High Energy Phys. JHEP02(2005)044 (Preprint hep-th/0412026)
 Basile F, Pelissetto A and Vicari E 2005 PoS (LAT2005) 199 (Preprint hep-lat/0509018)
- [39] Fisher M E and Nelson D R 1974 *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 32 1350
 Nelson D R, Kosterlitz J M and Fisher M E 1974 *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 33 813
 Kosterlitz J M, Nelson D R and Fisher M E 1976 *Phys. Rev.* B 13 412
- [40] Aharony A 2002 Phys. Rev. Lett. 88 059703Aharony A 2002 (Preprint cond-mat/0201576)
- [41] Zinn-Justin J 1991 Nucl. Phys. B 367 105
- [42] Coleman S and Gross D J 1973 Phys. Rev. Lett. 31 851

16